A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Christy Diemond owned two elderly horses, aged 35 and 39. 

Ms. Diemond was convicted of first degree animal cruelty for failing to 

provide sufficient food for the horses, based primarily on the testimony 

of an animal control officer. After trial it was discovered that the 

animal control officer, Jenee Westberg had been convicted of theft and 

drug offenses, as well as being punished by her employer for 

dishonesty. This information was never disclosed. Ms. Diemond sought 

a new trial based upon this impeachment evidence. The trial court 

denied the motion, finding the animal control officer's testimony 

cumulative. 

Ms. Diemond submits there was a reasonable probability of a 

different result had she been allowed to impeach the witness, thus she is 

entitled to reversal of her convictions and remand for a new trial. 

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The trial court's denial of Ms. Diemond's motion for a new trial 

based on a violation of Brad/ violated her constitutionally protected 

rights to due process and a fair trial. 

I Brady v. Maryland. 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963). 



C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

The State's failure to disclose potentially exculpatory evidence 

to the defendant, or evidence that could be used to impeach a witness, 

violates the defendant's right to due process and a fair trial under the 

Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments. Here, the State failed to disclose 

impeachment evidence concerning the first law enforcement officer 

who contacted Ms. Diemond and observed the two horses that were the 

subject of this action. Did the State's failure violate Ms. Diemond's 

right to due process and a fair trial necessitating reversal of her 

convictions and remand for a new trial? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Acting on a tip regarding horses that were not being fed. On 

February 26, 2011, King County Sheriffs Sergeant Bonnie Soule went 

to Christy Diemond's residence and observed two elderly horses in a 

pasture. 10/2/20 12RP 9-11. Sergeant Soule spoke to Ms. Diemond as 

she was assisting Ms. Diemond in feeding the horses. 101212012RP 23-

30. Based upon her observations, Soule had concerns, so she referred 

the matter to the King County Animal Shelter. 10/212012RP 34-42, 54. 

The following day, Animal Control Officer Jenee Westberg 

arrived at Ms. Diemond's residence in response to the referral. 
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Although Ms. Diemond was not at home when Westberg arrived, Ms. 

Diemond's mother's caregiver gave Westberg permission to look at the 

horses. 10/2/2012RP 100. 

Westberg claimed the horses were very thin and the blankets on 

them improperly fit. 10/2/2012RP 98. Westberg noted the temperature 

was below freezing and there was snow on the ground. 1012120 12RP 

99. The horses were in a pasture Westberg estimated at an acre to an 

acre and one half. 10/212012RP 101. Westberg claimed the horses' 

water trough was frozen and the bark from nearby trees had been 

stripped by the horses. 1012120 12RP 101-02. Westberg claimed she felt 

under the male horse, Bud's, blanket and felt what she described as 

skin and bones. 10/2/2012RP 108. 

When she first arrived, Westberg left Ms. Diemond a voice 

message. 10/2/2012RP 100. A short while later, Ms. Diemond returned 

Westberg's call. 10/2/2012RP 114. According to Westberg, Ms. 

Diemond was very cooperative and stated she was having financial 

troubles and had been looking for new owners for the horses. 

10/2/2012RP 114. Westberg claimed Ms. Diemond said she could not 

afford a veterinarian and was willing to surrender the horses. 

10/2/2012RP 115-16. 
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The horses were examined by a veterinarian and taken to a 

shelter. 10/2/2012RP 133-37. Ms. Diemond was subsequently charged 

with two counts of first degree animal cruelty. 2 CP 64. Following a 

jury trial, Ms. Diemond was convicted as charged. CP 50-55.3 

After the trial, it carne to light that damaging information 

regarding Westberg had not been disclosed to Ms. Diemond. CP 1227. 

Specifically, that Westberg had been prosecuted for the possession of 

narcotics in 2008, convicted of theft in 2006, and was suspended from 

her employment for four days because of employee theft of wages and 

dishonesty.ld. 

Prior to sentencing, Ms. Diemond moved for a new trial, on 

among other grounds a violation of Brady. CP 1220-29. The trial court 

denied the motion for a new trial, finding there was not a reasonable 

2 First Degree animal cruelty as charged here states in relevant part: 

A person is guilty of animal cruelty in the first degree when, ... he 
or she, with criminal negligence, starves, dehydrates or suffocates 
an animal and as a result causes: (a) Substantial and unjustifiable 
physical pain that extends for a period sufficient to cause 
considerable suffering; or (b) death. 

RCW 16.25.205(2). 

3 Ms. Diemond was charged with the alternative means of committing 
animal cruelty; by starvation and by dehydration. CP 15-16. By special verdict, the 
jury found Ms. Diemond guilty of animal cruelty by starvation but not by 
dehydration. CP 51-52, 54-55. 
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likelihood that the result of the trial court would have been any 

different since Westberg's testimony was cumulative. CP 151-16. 

Ms. Diemond appeals. 

E.ARGUMENT 

The Trial Court's Denial Of A New Trial For A 
Violation Of Brady Violated Ms. Diemond's Fifth 
And Fourteenth Amendment Rights To A Fair Trial 
And Due Process 

1. Due process requires the State produce material evidence 
impeaching a State's witness. 

The Due Process Clause of the United States Constitution 

requires the government provide any exculpatory information to the 

defense. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. The 

underlying rational behind the decision in Brady is that "[s]ociety wins 

not only when the guilty are convicted but when criminal trials are 

fair." Brady, 373 U.S. at 87. 

In Brady, the Supreme Court held "the suppression by the 

prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates 

due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or 

punishment, irrespective ofthe good faith or bad faith of the 

prosecution." 373 U.S. at 87. In Giglio v. United States, the Supreme 

Court extended this principle to include evidence that bears upon the 
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credibility of a government witness. 405 U.S. 150, 154, 92 S.Ct. 763, 

31 L.Ed.2d 104 (1972). 

Brady holds that a prosecutor violates due process when he or 

she (1) suppresses evidence (2) that is favorable to the defendant, when 

that evidence (3) is material to guilt or innocence. Brady. 373 U.S. at 

87. Evidence is material under Brady if it creates "a 'reasonable 

probability' ofa different result." Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 434, 

115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995). "A reasonable probability 

does not mean that the defendant 'would more likely than not have 

received a different verdict with the evidence,' only that the likelihood 

of a different result is great enough to 'undermine[ ] confidence in the 

outcome of the trial.' " Smith v. Cain, U.S. ,132 S.Ct. 627, 630, 

181 L.Ed.2d 571 (2012), quoting Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. 

"Impeachment evidence is especially likely to be material when it 

impugns the testimony ofa witness who is critical to the prosecution's 

case." United States v. Kohring, 637 F.3d 895, 905-06 (9th Cir. 2011), 

quoting Silva v. Brown, 416 F.3d 980,987 (9th Cir. 2005). 

Brady violations are reviewed de novo. State v. Mullen, 171 

Wn.2d 881, 893-94, 259 P.3d 158 (2011). 
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Here, the court found the evidence would have been favorable to 

Ms. Diemond and that it had not been disclosed by the State. Thus, the 

remaining issue here concerns the final Brady factor; materiality. Ms. 

Diemond submits the trial court erred when it found the impeaching 

evidence not to be material. 

2. There was a reasonable probability the result would have 
been different had Ms. Diemond been allowed to use the 
previously undisclosed impeachment evidence regarding 
Westberg. 

The test for materiality is "not a sufficiency of evidence test." 

Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. Thus, a "showing of materiality does not 

require demonstration by a preponderance that disclosure of the 

suppressed evidence would have resulted ultimately in the defendant's 

acquittal." Id. Rather, the issue "is not whether the defendant would 

more likely than not have received a different verdict with the 

evidence, but whether in its absence he received a fair trial, understood 

as a trial resulting ina verdict worthy of confidence." Id. 

Evidence is material "if there is a reasonable probability that, 

had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the 

proceeding would have been different." United States v. Bagley, 473 

U.S. 667, 682, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). A "reasonable 

probability" may exist even where the remaining evidence would have 
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been sufficient to convict the defendant. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 

263, 290, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999). Moreover, the court 

may find a "reasonable probability" without finding that the outcome 

would more likely than not have been different. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 434. 

Instead, "[a] 'reasonable probability ' ofa different result [exists] when 

the government's evidentiary suppression 'undermines confidence in 

the outcome of the trial. '" Id., quoting Bagley, 473 U.S . at 678. 

Finally, the determination ofthe materiality of non-disclosed 

evidence is to be considered collectively, not item by item. Kyles, 514 

U.S. at 436. 

Whatever the definition is for "material," the impeachment 

evidence disclosed about Westberg was material. Westberg was 

cloaked in authority status; an Animal Control Officer for all of King 

County, vested with the power to investigate animal cruelty cases, 

including serving search warrants. 10/2/20 12RP 88. She described 

Animal Control Officers such as herself as "animal experts." 

10/2/2012RP 140. Westberg was allowed to opine that the pasture in 

which the horses were kept was not in good condition, that the horses 

were in an emaciated condition, that the amount of food they were fed 
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was insufficient, and that the type of food was improper for horses. 

10/212012RP 105-06, 112-13, 125-28. 

The trial court opined that the Westberg's theft conviction and 

dishonesty at work likely would have been admissible, but the evidence 

of drug use would not have been admissible because "there was no 

allegation that she was under the influence during these proceedings." 

But that puts the cart before the horse. Ms. Diemond did not have an 

opportunity to investigate whether Westberg was under the influence of 

drugs either at trial or during her investigation of Ms. Diemond because 

the evidence of her drug use had not been disclosed. Thus, contrary to 

the trial court's conclusion, whether the evidence of Westberg's drug 

use would have been admissible at trial for impeachment purposes was 

an open question at best. Certainly had the jury been aware of 

Westberg's drug use, there may have been a very reasonable 

probability of a different result. See Kohring, 637 F.3d at 905-06 

("Indeed, had the evidence of Allen's past conduct been disclosed, 

'there is a reasonable probability that the withheld evidence would have 

altered at least one juror's assessment' regarding Allen's testimony 

against Kohring."). 
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While some of Westberg's testimony was cumulative as the trial 

court found, her testimony carried significant weight given her cloak of 

authority as a King County Animal Control Officer. Westberg testified 

as a pseUdo-expert whose testimony was presented as though carrying 

extra weight. The impeachment evidence would have leveled the 

playing field, giving the jury more to contemplate other than 

Westberg's bald assertions. 

Finally, it must be remembered that the jury was not convinced 

the evidence of guilt was overwhelming. Although charged with 

alternative means of committing animal cruelty, the jury found Ms. 

Diemond guilty of only one of the two alternative means, acquitting her 

of the other. If the impeachment material altered just one juror's mind, 

that would have been sufficient to find it material. Kohring, 637 F.3d at 

905-06. This is such a case. The trial court erred in failing to find there 

was a reasonable probability of a different result based upon the 

impeachment material of Westberg. 

3. Ms. Diemond is entitled to reversal of her convictions. 

Once a reviewing court has found constitutional error under 

Brady, there is no need for further harmless-error review. Kyles, 514 

U.S. at 435. Here, Ms. Diemond has established a reasonable 
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probability of a different result based upon the impeachment evidence 

regarding Westberg. She is entitled to reversal of her convictions. 

F. CONCLUSION 

For the reasons stated, Ms. Diemond asks this Court to reverse 

her convictions and remand for a new trial.