# COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

CHRISTY R. DIEMOND,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JIM ROGERS

#### **BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

> NAMI KIM Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

##

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

#### C. ARGUMENT

 THE UNDISCLOSED MATERIAL WAS NOT MATERIAL, AND THUS NOT A BRADY VIOLATION.

Diemond argues that evidence of Westberg's 2006 compromise of misdemeanor for shoplifting, 2008 deferred sentence for attempted drug possession, and 4-day suspension for lying about work-related obligations was material and that there is a reasonable probability that its disclosure would have resulted in a different verdict. This is incorrect. Because the first two items would have been inadmissible at trial, Westberg's testimony was cumulative, and this case was acknowledged by all to be a "battle of the experts," the undisclosed information was not material under Brady.

It is well-established that "the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." Brady, 373 U.S. 83, 87, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). The Brady rule encompasses impeachment evidence as well as exculpatory evidence. Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154-55, 92 S. Ct. 763, 31 L. Ed. 2d 104 (1972). In addition, the duty to disclose favorable evidence is not limited to evidence possessed

by prosecutors; it extends to evidence possessed by law enforcement as well. Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 419, 437, 115 S. Ct. 1555, 131 L. Ed. 2d 490 (1995).

In order to prevail on a <u>Brady</u> claim, a defendant must show three things: 1) that the evidence in question is favorable to the defendant "either because it is exculpatory, or because it is impeaching"; 2) that the evidence was "suppressed by the State, whether willfully or inadvertently"; and 3) that "prejudice must have ensued." <u>State v. Mullen</u>, 171 Wn.2d 881, 895, 259 P.3d 158 (2011) (quoting <u>Strickler v. Greene</u>, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82, 119 S. Ct. 1936, 144 L. Ed. 2d 286 (1999)). The terms "prejudice" and "materiality" are used interchangeably. <u>Mullen</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 897. The question of materiality under <u>Brady</u> is reviewed de novo. <u>In re Personal Restraint of Stenson</u>, 174 Wn.2d 474, 491, 276 P.3d 286 (2012).

In this case, the first two parts of the <u>Brady</u> test were not disputed in the lower court, and cannot reasonably be argued here. 7RP 141-42. The three items were not disclosed to the defense; the parties agreed and the trial court found that it was unintentional and that the prosecutor learned of the information post-verdict. 7RP 135, 141-42, 156-57; CP 1436, 1515. The items were also arguably favorable to the defense, although the question of whether the drug

arrest constitutes impeachment evidence will be incorporated into the question of "materiality" below.

Evidence is "material" for <u>Brady</u> purposes "only if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>State v. Thomas</u>, 150 Wn.2d 821, 850, 83 P.3d 970 (2004) (quoting <u>United States v. Bagley</u>, 473 U.S. 667, 682, 105 S. Ct. 3375, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481(1985), and <u>In re Personal Restraint of Benn</u>, 134 Wn.2d 868, 916, 952 P.2d 116 (1998)). In turn, under the "reasonable probability" standard, "the question is whether the defendant received a fair trial without the evidence - that is, 'a trial resulting in a verdict worthy of confidence." <u>Thomas</u>, 150 Wn.2d at 850-51 (quoting <u>Kyles</u>, 514 U.S. at 434)).

Put another way, "the reasonable probability of a different result is shown when the State's suppression 'undermines confidence in the outcome of the trial." Thomas, 150 Wn.2d at 851(quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 678). Because this determination inherently involves analyzing the importance of the omitted information relative to all of the evidence presented, the omission must "be evaluated in the context of the entire record." United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 112-13, 96 S. Ct. 2932, 49 L. Ed. 2d 342 (1976); Mullen, 171 Wn.2d

at 897, 900 (undisclosed evidence must be reviewed "collectively, not item by item" and in view of the "totality of the evidence").

The "mere possibility that an item of undisclosed evidence might have helped the defense or might have affected the outcome of the trial . . . does not establish 'materiality'" under Brady. State v.

Turner, 143 Wn.2d 715, 728, 23 P.3d 499 (2001) (italics in original).

The United States Supreme Court has held that a "reasonable probability" requires more: a defendant must "show[] that the favorable evidence could reasonably be taken to put the whole case in such a different light as to undermine confidence in the verdict."

Kyles, 514 U.S. at 435 (italics added); see also Strickler, 527 U.S. at 281 ("there is never a real 'Brady violation' unless the nondisclosure was so serious that there is a reasonable probability that [it] would have produced a different verdict") (italics added).

Accordingly, courts have found undisclosed impeachment evidence to be material only when it implicated witnesses who provided the sole link between the defendant and the crime or were otherwise deemed "crucial" by the record or the parties. See e.g. Kyles, 514 U.S. at 429, 451 (noting that the "heart of the State's case" was four eyewitnesses described by the prosecution as the "crux of the case" and whose earlier inconsistent statements were

never disclosed); Smith v. Cain, \_\_\_ U.S. \_\_\_, 132 S. Ct. 627, 630, 181 L. Ed. 2d 571 (2012) (finding a Brady violation where an eyewitness "was the *only* evidence linking [defendant] to the crime" and whose testimony at trial was directly contradicted by his initial inability to identify any of the perpetrators at the scene) (emphasis in original); In re Stenson, 174 Wn.2d at 478 (holding that suppression of pretrial contamination of gunshot residue was "material," where it was "instrumental to the State's case" and comprised one of only "two key pieces of forensic evidence [that] directly tied the defendant to the shootings").

In the absence of evidence that attacks the major link to the crime, the courts have held against materiality. In Strickler, the court affirmed a conviction even where the sole eyewitness to a kidnapping had given several undisclosed statements directly contradicting her trial testimony, because two other witnesses had placed the defendant near the scene and "considerable forensic and other physical evidence" supported the State's case. 527 U.S. at 289-96; see also Smith, 132 S.Ct. at 630 ("We have observed that evidence impeaching an eyewitness may not be material if the State's other evidence is strong enough to sustain confidence in the verdict.").

In most cases where the court found materiality, the evidence consisted of either statements that directly contradicted the primary witness's testimony regarding the *actual crime itself*, or circumstances undermining the reliability of key forensic evidence. Most recently in <a href="State v. Davila">State v. Davila</a>, the court found that undisclosed evidence of a former crime lab analyst found to be incompetent in other cases was not material, even though "the DNA evidence was the crux of the State's case, and . . . Ms. Olson was the critical link in the chain that handled the DNA swabs and performed the initial testing." 2014 WL 4114314 (Aug. 21, 2014). The suppression of her "undisputed incompetence" as an analyst in other cases presented no reasonable probability of a different outcome because the record showed "little likelihood that her handling of the evidence could have contaminated the evidence *at issue*." <a href="Id">Id</a>. (italics added).

"An important aspect of materiality under <u>Brady</u> is admissibility." <u>Mullen</u>, 171 Wn.2d at 897; <u>see also Wood v.</u>

<u>Bartholomew</u>, 516 U.S. 1, 6, 116 S. Ct. 7, 133 L. Ed. 2d 1 (1995)

(holding that undisclosed polygraph results were not material because they were inadmissible under the evidence rules in Washington and thus "could have had no direct effect on the outcome of the trial"); <u>State v. Gregory</u>, 158 Wn.2d 759, 797, 147 P.3d 1201

(2006) ("[I]f evidence is neither admissible nor likely to lead to admissible evidence[,] it is unlikely that disclosure of the evidence could affect the outcome of a proceeding").

Under ER 609(a), only crimes of dishonesty or felonies are admissible to impeach a witness. A dismissed conviction is not admissible for impeachment. In re Personal Restraint of Lord, 123 Wn.2d 296, 315, 868 P.2d 835, 849 (1994). A compromise of misdemeanor is not a conviction. State v. Ford, 99 Wn. App. 682, 685, 995 P.2d 93 (2000). Drug convictions are not crimes of dishonesty under ER 609 and are thus presumed inadmissible unless the proponent can meet its burden of establishing that probative value exceeds prejudicial effect. State v. Hardy, 133 Wn.2d 701, 707-12, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997).

2. THE 2006 ATTEMPTED DRUG POSSESSION CHARGE AND 2008 COMPROMISE OF MISDEMEANOR FOR THEFT IN THE THIRD DEGREE WERE INADMISSIBLE AND THUS NOT MATERIAL.

The trial court correctly found that Westberg's dismissed conviction for attempted drug possession did not qualify as <u>Brady</u> evidence because "drug offenses are simply not admissible" as impeachment evidence and there is "no legal theory under which

drug use can be used to impeach honesty." 7RP 125-26;
CP 1514-15. The drug conviction was also inadmissible because it was not a felony and had been dismissed. Diemond does not cite to any authority that would otherwise allow its use, nor could she, given the well-established caselaw to the contrary. She only asserts that evidence of Westberg's drug use "may have [created] . . . a very reasonable probability of a different result" without explaining how.

Because evidence of drug use cannot be presented as evidence of dishonesty or a general propensity for misconduct, it was properly found to be non-material.

Nevertheless, Diemond disputes the trial court's ruling that the only basis for admissibility would have been if Westberg was under the influence at the time of the offense or while testifying in court, arguing that she "did not have an opportunity to investigate whether Westberg was under the influence of drugs either at trial or during her investigation of Ms. Diemond because the evidence had not been disclosed." App. Br. 9; 7RP 125-26; CP 1514-15. This argument is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Diemond does not actually cite to any specific evidence rules under which the incidents could have been admitted, making only the blanket statement that "whatever the definition is for 'material,' the impeachment evidence disclosed about Westberg was material." App. Br. 8.

specious. Diemond was given ample opportunity to observe

Westberg in an open courtroom and had more opportunity than
anyone else to scrutinize her at her own home on February 27, where
she was in close proximity to her for an hour before Dr. Mueller
arrived. 3RP 123; 4RP 29. Not knowing about the prior drug arrest
did not obscure her ability to make personal observations.

The 2008 misdemeanor theft arrest was resolved by a compromise of misdemeanor and dismissal, making it inadmissible on two grounds; trial counsel acknowledged that it was not a "true conviction." 7RP 19. Thus, although the trial court ruled that it "might" have been admissible, it correctly concluded that "[i]n summary, the jury would have known [only] that Westberg stole from her employer and lied to her employer." CP 1514-15.

3. THE WORKPLACE SUSPENSION INCIDENT WAS NOT MATERIAL.

The State concedes that the workplace suspension incident in which Westberg was found to have lied about working a full shift and attending a training would have been admissible at trial under

ER 608(b) as a specific instance of conduct.<sup>10</sup> This was the trial court's conclusion as well. CP 1515. However, Diemond still fails to meet her burden in establishing that the incident was material.

Westberg was far from the crucial or critical witness that

Diemond attempts to portray. Unlike the cases cited above,

Westberg was the least important of the State's three on-scene

witnesses, and definitely not the sole link between Diemond and her

crimes. As the trial court correctly found when it stated that "[o]ne

looks in vain at the transcripts to see any different information that

Officer Westberg gave" that the other State's witnesses did not,

Westberg's testimony was wholly cumulative. 11 CP 1515.

Two other witnesses, Sergeant Soule and Dr. Mueller, saw and testified to almost the exact same subjects as did Westberg. All three witnesses, during the same two-day period, observed the visibly thin horses, frozen-solid trough, condition of the paddock, and the bark torn off the trees. All three felt Bud's rib bones personally with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Although the prosecutor stated in the lower court that the defendant's lie during her 2006 drug arrest about being the on-duty officer may also have been admissible under ER 608(b), the trial court did not make this ruling nor does Diemond address it in her brief, citing only the fact of her drug use/conviction. The State therefore does not reference it here.

Although Diemond properly concedes that at least "some of Westberg's testimony was cumulative," she maintains that the impeachment evidence would have "leveled the playing field." App.Br. 10. This is not the standard for materiality.

their hands. All three heard Diemond admit that she gave each horse only one cup of cattle food and senior equine twice a day, that she was unable to care for the horses, and that people were after her.

As the trial court correctly pointed out, however, Mueller was the primary witness; it was Mueller whose observations were the "most thorough" and "in-depth" of the three witnesses. As the parties agreed in their briefing and argument, the case boiled down to a "battle of the experts" and it was therefore the experts who were the key witnesses. Even the defense expert paid little attention to Westberg's report when forming his opinions.

The closing arguments also focused on the experts. Westberg was barely mentioned by either side. The prosecutor and defense counsel devoted almost the entirety of their remarks to Dr. Mueller and Dr. Mabrey. Defense counsel instructed the jury that the ultimate issue of guilt boiled down to whether it accepted "science" (Mabrey) versus "eyeball" (Mueller).

The record also reflects that the heart of this case lay in the two expert witnesses. Their testimony took up most of the trial time, with extensive cross-examination by each side. It was Mueller who conducted a thorough physical examination of the horses, which Westberg made clear "was the veterinarian's exam . . . it wasn't my

exam." The exam, plus the medical history of the horses that

Diemond gave directly to Mueller, formed the backbone of the State's

case for starvation. Everything that Westberg described as a passive

observer of the clinical assessment simply summarized Mueller's

more detailed testimony; as Westberg said, "I wasn't really involved."

3RP 106, 116, 130, 136, 145, 154, 156.

Diemond nevertheless contends that Westberg was "allowed to opine" as an authority figure and "pseudo-expert." Neither the record nor the trial court's findings support this. For example, Westberg stated that she did not even know what Dairy 16 was or how much of it to give a horse. 3RP 125, 145-46. Her repeated deferrals to Mueller's medical opinion also belie her role as a "pseudo-expert." Furthermore, Westberg's comment that animal control officers were "the animal experts" came in response to a question about the difference between the King County Sheriff's Office and Animal Control. 3RP 139-40. It was also of no moment in this case, where Soule, the first responder on scene, was not an average law enforcement officer but one uniquely experienced in horse care.

The court was also equivocal about Diemond's characterization of Westberg, noting that although "it might be objected that Officer Westberg gave some 'expert' testimony," this testimony was limited to her direct observations of the scene, a vague "body score" that she herself described as incomplete and an "educated guess," and her opinion that the horses were not being fed enough. 3RP 134; CP 1514. All of these points were reiterated independently and more clearly by either Soule or Mueller. Even Soule, who personally observed Diemond scoop and prepare the two inches of the horses' food, presented more substantial testimony on that issue than Westberg, who never even saw Diemond feed the horses.

Finally, Diemond claims that she has established a reasonable probability of a different outcome because the jury unanimously convicted her of starvation rather than dehydration. This argument is unsound. Just because the verdict was not unanimous on one means does not mean the evidence was not powerful on the other. The evidence of starvation was overwhelming even had Westberg not testified or been thoroughly impeached. The jurors heard Soule's

.. '

and Mueller's testimony regarding Diemond's admissions, the scant volume of food provided, the horses' physical condition, and the fact that they were 200 pounds underweight. The jury saw only pictures of the bony horses with their ribs and hip bones jutting out, their significant and visible improvement following removal from Diemond's home, and actual bags of food exemplifying what each horse received per Diemond's own admission versus what was recommended by an actual veterinarian. 4RP 118-21.

Finally, Diemond misstates the holding in <u>Strickler</u>; that court did not hold that a reasonable probability may exist "even where the remaining evidence would have been sufficient to convict the defendant." App. Br. 7-8. It simply held that sufficiency of the evidence is not the correct standard to measure materiality under <u>Brady</u>; it said nothing about how findings under both tests could co-exist. <u>Strickler</u>, 527 U.S. at 290.

Diemond has failed to meet her burden to establish the materiality of the undisclosed evidence and a reasonable probability of a different outcome. The verdict in this case is worthy of confidence.

. ,

## D. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

For all of the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm Diemond's convictions.

DATED this 19 day of September, 2014.

Respectfully submitted,

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

NAMI KIM, WSBA #36633

Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

Office WSBA #91002